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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

__________________________________________ 
        
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA   : 
       : 
  v.     :  No. 5:16-cr-00494 
       : 
DONALD LEE HAAS    : 
       : 
__________________________________________ 

 
O P I N I O N 

Defendant’s Motion to Suppress Statements, ECF No. 16 – Denied 

Joseph F. Leeson, Jr. August 10, 2017 
United States District Judge 

I. Introduction 
 Donald Lee Haas is charged with telephoning bomb threats to two restaurants, a mall, and 
the Lehigh Valley International Airport in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 844(e)(2) (Counts Two 
through Five) and 18 U.S.C. § 1992(a)(9) (Count Six), and conspiracy in violation 18 U.S.C. 
§ 371 (Count One). He has moved to suppress statements he made to law enforcement officers 
who came to his apartment to speak with him while they were investigating the case. He 
contends that the statements must be suppressed because the conversation he had with the 
officers constituted a custodial interrogation and he was not notified of his Miranda rights.  
 The Court held a hearing on Haas’s motion and now concludes that he was not in custody 
during the encounter, which means that his motion must be denied. This opinion explains why 
that is so and sets forth the “essential findings” that support that conclusion. See Fed. R. Crim. P. 
12(d). 

II. Factual Background 
 The four bomb threats that Haas is accused of making transpired over a forty-minute 
period one evening in May 2016. According to the employee at the airport who was on the 
receiving end of that call, the caller identified himself as “Charlie McWilliams.” The employee 
on the receiving end of the call to the mall told law enforcement that in that instance, the caller 
did not identify himself, but the caller said that a person named Charlie McWilliams was upset 
with a purchase he had made at the mall and planned to plant a bomb there. The caller also stated 
that Charlie McWilliams lived at 3830 Huckleberry Road in South Whitehall Township, 
Pennsylvania. 
 The FBI commenced an investigation, and agents quickly learned that the calls had been 
made from a prepaid wireless phone, which meant that the wireless carrier was not able to 
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provide any information about the subscriber. But, at the FBI’s request, the carrier was able to 
“ping” the phone the day after the threats were made to attempt to triangulate its location by 
reference to nearby cell towers. The response the carrier received from the phone suggested that 
it was in the vicinity of 3830 Huckleberry Road. 
 3830 Huckleberry Road is a building—either “an old farmhouse or business,” Tr. 16:16-
18, ECF No. 35—that has been converted into apartments. The agents learned that a person 
named Charlie McWilliams lived in a unit on the second floor with his girlfriend, while a person 
named Donald Haas lived with his girlfriend and their four-year-old daughter in a unit on the 
first floor. 
 Around this same time, local law enforcement made contact with Charlie McWilliams. 
He denied making the threats and informed the officers that he had an “ongoing dispute” with 
Haas and Haas’s girlfriend. The officers passed that information along to the FBI, and on May 
19, 2016—two days after the threats had been made—two agents from the FBI, Matthew 
VanDurme and Joseph Bushner, traveled to 3830 Huckleberry Road, accompanied by two local 
police officers. 
 When they arrived, they knocked on a door at the residence and were greeted by Haas’s 
girlfriend and their four-year-old child. VanDurme, Bushner, and one of the local officers—a 
lieutenant—were in plainclothes, while the other local officer was in uniform and had driven 
there in his marked patrol car. They told Haas’s girlfriend that they were there to investigate a 
series of threatening phone calls and asked if she had any knowledge of the phone that the calls 
had originated from. At first, she denied any knowledge of the phone or the threatening calls, but 
as the conversation continued, one of the officers tried calling the phone, which rang a few times 
and then transferred to voicemail. After this had happened a “couple times,” Tr. 28:17-19, Haas’s 
girlfriend excused herself and went back into the house. When she returned, one of the officers 
tried calling the phone again, but this time, the call went straight to voicemail. Shortly thereafter, 
Haas’s girlfriend admitted that she did in fact own the phone, and she retrieved it and gave it to 
the officers. 
 During the conversation, Haas’s girlfriend had mentioned that Haas was currently at 
work, so VanDurme asked her if she would be willing to call him and tell him that the agents 
wished to speak with him. She did, and about thirty minutes after the officers had originally 
arrived at the apartment building, Haas arrived in his pickup truck. 
 There are gravel parking lots on both sides of the building, and Haas parked his truck in 
one of those lots. VanDurme and Bushner, the two FBI agents, walked over to his vehicle, while 
the lieutenant from the local police department stayed near the building with Haas’s girlfriend. 
The other local officer, who was in uniform, was in the area but did not accompany the two 
agents as they walked over to meet Haas. 
 The two sides agree about the events up to this point, but they disagree to some extent 
about what happened next. 
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 According to VanDurme, who testified at the hearing, the first thing he did after 
introducing himself was to ask Haas if he would be willing to speak with him and Bushner about 
the bomb threats they were investigating, and Haas agreed. Tr. 21:9-12. VanDurme then 
prefaced the conversation by telling Haas that “nobody was going to be arrested that day” and 
that the agents just wanted to ask him a few questions. Tr. 21:13-18. He testified that Haas told 
them that he and his girlfriend were being evicted from their apartment, and on the night that the 
bomb threats were made, they were in the process of moving their belongings to a new 
apartment. Tr. 24:4-12. Haas said that he had been angry with McWilliams, his neighbor, 
because he blamed McWilliams for the eviction. Id. He admitted that he had been drinking that 
night and “may have made some sort of threatening phone calls,” but because he had been 
intoxicated, “he couldn’t quite remember what was said.” Id. He also admitted that his girlfriend 
owned the phone to which the FBI had traced the calls. Id. At some point during the 
conversation, the agents asked whether “somebody [would] be able to take care of [his] child, or 
what would happen to the child” if he and his girlfriend were to get in trouble for these events, 
though it is unclear what prompted that question. See Tr. 37:23-38:4. As the conversation came 
to a close, Haas asked the agents if anyone would be arrested that day, and the agents again told 
him that was not the case. Tr. 25:10-11. VanDurme estimated that, all told, the conversation 
lasted about ten to fifteen minutes. Tr. 22:9-10. 
 VanDurme acknowledged that the conversation took on a “questioning” tone, but he 
testified that he and Bushner “tried to be as polite as possible” and did not yell, threaten Haas, or 
act “hostile in any way.” Tr. 23:13-19. According to VanDurme, Haas spent part of the 
conversation sitting on the back of his truck and part of the time standing next to it, except for 
one point during the conversation when he went into the cab of the truck to retrieve a beverage. 
Tr. 22:20-24. VanDurme also testified that while Haas was speaking with them, Haas’s daughter 
was “running around, either sitting with Mr. Haas on the bed of the truck or playing in the yard 
or running around her mother.” Tr. 22:5-8. VanDurme was also asked whether he and the other 
agent prevented Haas from entering his apartment during the encounter, and he explained that 
they “did not prevent him [from] enter[ing] his apartment, but [they] did ask to speak with him 
separate[ly] from [his girlfriend], who was already standing by the front door of the apartment.” 
Tr. 26:5-10. 
 Haas had a different version of events. He testified that when he arrived at the apartment 
building and exited his truck, the two FBI agents approached him, and the following encounter 
ensued: 

[T]hey . . . approached me with a business card, FBI, and then [one of them] starts 
shoving this phone in my face and said, ‘You know this phone?’, and I said ‘I 
don’t know this phone,’ and they kept [asking], ‘You do know whose phone this 
is.’ I said, ‘No, I don’t know whose phone this is.’ . . . They must have said it 
about 15, 20 times, ‘This is your phone. You know whose phone it is.’ I said, ‘No, 
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it isn’t.’ Then they said, ‘Well, [your girlfriend] had it.’ I said, ‘Well, [she] has a 
bunch of phones. My girlfriend is always getting phones.’”  

Tr. 43:3-16. 
 According to Haas, the agents then informed him that bomb threats had been made from 
that phone and warned him that he would be “going to go to jail if [he didn’t] tell the truth.” Tr. 
43:20-44:2. Then, more bluntly, they said, “[w]ell, [your girlfriend’s] going to go to jail and 
you’re going to go to jail, and do you have somebody to take care of your daughter?” Id. Haas 
testified that he was “terrified” and “so nervous [his] heart dropped down” out of his concern for 
his daughter. Tr. 44:12, 45:18-21. Haas also testified that at one point he asked the agents, “Well, 
what happens if I said I did do it?” to which they responded, “It’s going to cost you thousands 
and thousands of dollars. You’ll be in jail for ten years.” Tr. 46:20-24. 
 Haas testified that during the encounter, he had “wanted to walk away a couple times” to 
“make calls,” including one to his son-in-law, but the agents told him “[n]o, [because] [they had] 
something to talk [to him] about” and turned down his request to go into the apartment because 
they did not “want [him] near [his girlfriend] and stuff like that.” Tr. 44:12-18, 46:4-10. Haas 
testified that he felt “entrapped”—”definitely felt [that he] was trapped . . . trapped into a 
situation that [he] never done.” Tr. 46:12-15. Haas also testified, contrary to VanDurme’s 
account, that the agents never told him that he would not be arrested that day. Tr. 65:4-8. 
 Haas also had a different recollection of how long the encounter lasted. He testified that it 
lasted “at least 45 minutes”—or “[i]t felt like 45 minutes at least.” Tr. 46:20-21. He also disputed 
VanDurme’s testimony that he had told the agents that he had been intoxicated on the night the 
bomb threats were made. According to Haas, “[t]hey talked [him] into saying that.” Tr. 70:4-9. 
 The Court does not find Haas to be a credible witness. In addition to having the 
opportunity to observe his demeanor on the witness stand, substantial portions of his testimony 
were either contradictory or simply implausible. 
 For example, he initially testified that there had never been any problems between him 
and McWilliams. Tr. 49:9-11 (“Me and Chuck never had any problems. . . . Me and Chuck, I 
thought we had a good friendship.”). But on cross-examination, Haas conceded that on two 
recent occasions—once a few months before the bomb threats, and the second time just a few 
weeks before the threats were made—he and his girlfriend had reported McWilliams to the 
police, the first time for allegedly speeding into the parking lot of the apartment building and 
nearly “running over [his] baby,” Tr. 53:17-23, 59:12-24, and the second time for allegedly 
sending “terroristic threats” against his girlfriend and their daughter to his girlfriend’s phone, Tr. 
56:4-9, 58:3-5.1 

                                                 
1  Haas also made a cryptic reference to a “$250 hit man,” who Haas—or at least his girlfriend—seems to 
believe may have been sent after them by McWilliams. See Tr. 56:4-9 (explaining how his girlfriend was “telling 
her whole story [to the police] because . . . she had all this stuff on this prepaid phone of threatening my daughter, 
threatening her, $200—$250 hit man, and I just added, ‘Well, we had other problems, you know, flat tire and stuff 
like that. That might have been from the hit man’”); Tr. 57:8-11 (explaining that his girlfriend “wanted to file a 
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 Haas’s recollection of that second report to the police also shifted as his testimony 
unfolded. At first, Haas testified that, in addition to his girlfriend’s concerns about the 
threatening messages on her phone, he told the police that they had also been having “other 
problems, you know, flat tire and stuff like that.” Tr. 56:4-9. But when this topic came up again 
later in his testimony, Haas testified that his girlfriend “did all the talking,” and he denied any 
recollection of telling the police about any other problems the two of them had been having. Tr. 
57:19-58:11 (“Q: Well, you just told [me] a few minutes ago that you—A: I had problems with 
my tires, but they weren’t slashed. The air was left out, water in my gas tank, but I don’t recall 
telling the police officers. I don’t recall telling them that. . . . She did all—she did 90 percent—
she did all the talking to the police officer. . . . He just wanted to know my name and 
everything.”). 
 Also of note was Haas’s testimony during his direct examination that he did not and has 
never known his neighbor’s last name—a fact with particular significance to the underlying 
charges in this case given that Haas is accused of phoning-in false bomb threats and attributing 
them to “Charlie McWilliams”: 

Q: [W]hen you talked to [the agents on May 19, two days after the threats 
were made,] did they tell you the name of Charlie McWilliams? 

A: Yes, they did. 
Q: Okay. Did you know who that was? 
A: No. 
Q: What do you know your neighbor to be? 
A: Chuck. 
Q: Did you ever know his last name? 
A: Nope. 

Tr. 48:18-49:2. But after being confronted on cross-examination with the fact that he and his 
girlfriend had twice reported McWilliams to the police—and after conceding that he had been 
“sitting right there” on the second of those two occasions as his girlfriend told the police about 
the threatening messages that had been left on her phone (and that the police report referenced 
McWilliams by his full name), Tr. 56:10-12, 57:12-13—Haas then changed his story to say that 
he must have “forgot” McWilliams’s name at some point between April 28—the day that he and 
his girlfriend made that second report to the police—and May 19, the day that the agents 
questioned him.2 Tr. 58:16-21. 
                                                                                                                                                             
complaint to the South Whitehall Police because it’s threatening on her phone that she got a $250 hit man after her, 
and [a message stating,] ‘Keep your child close to you or you’re going to be dead’ . . . was all posted on her 
phone”); Tr. 57:14-16 (“Q: And [your girlfriend] said [to the police] that it was McWilliams and his girlfriend that 
were responsible? A: She might have said that, yes.”). 
2  Even if McWilliams’s name had slipped his mind over those intervening three weeks, Haas testified not 
that he had merely forgotten it, but that when the agents mentioned the name “Charlie McWilliams” during the 
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 In sum, the Court did not find Haas to be a credible witness. The Court did find 
VanDurme’s account to be credible, and in the areas where their two accounts diverge, the Court 
credits VanDurme’s version of events. The Court now turns to whether, under that version of 
events, Haas was in custody during the encounter with the agents. 

III. Haas was not in custody during the encounter. 
 Before subjecting a suspect to a custodial interrogation, the suspect must be informed of 
his rights and the potential ramifications of choosing to speak with law enforcement. Miranda v. 
Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444-45 (1966). If the suspect is not advised of those rights, any 
statements he makes cannot be used in his prosecution. Id. There is no dispute in this case that 
Haas was not advised of his Miranda rights. Nor is there any dispute that his encounter with the 
agents was an “interrogation.”3 The only question is whether that encounter was “custodial.” 
 A suspect is in custody if he is either “in custody at the station or otherwise deprived of 
his freedom of action in any significant way.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444. For a suspect to have 
been “deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way,” there must have been either “a 
‘formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement’ of the degree associated with a formal 
arrest.” California v. Beheler, 463 U.S. 1121, 1125 (1983) (quoting Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 
U.S. 492, 495 (1977)). 
 “[T]o determine how a suspect would have ‘gauge[d]’ his ‘freedom of moment’” at the 
time of the encounter, “courts must examine ‘all of the circumstances surrounding the 
interrogation,’” including “the location of the questioning, its duration, statements made during 
the interview, the presence or absence of physical restraints during the questioning, and the 
release of the interviewee at the end of the questioning.” Howes v. Fields, 565 U.S. 499, 509 
(2012) (citations omitted). Also relevant is “whether the officers told the suspect he was under 
arrest or free to leave,” “whether the officers used coercive tactics such as hostile tones of voice” 
or “the display of weapons,” and “whether the suspect voluntarily submitted to questioning.” 
United States v. Willaman, 437 F.3d 354, 360 (3d Cir. 2006). As these factors make clear, the 
determination of whether a suspect was in custody “depends on the objective circumstances of 
the interrogation, not on the subjective views harbored by either the interrogating officers or the 
person being questioned.” Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318, 323 (1994).4 
 In this case, nearly all signs point to the encounter being non-custodial. The starting point 
is that the encounter took place outside of Haas’s apartment. That is quite unlike the 
“paradigmatic Miranda situation,” where “a person is arrested in his home or on the street and 
whisked to a police station for questioning,” where he is “cut off from his normal life and 

                                                                                                                                                             
interview, Haas did not know who they were referring to. Tr. 48:21-11 (“Q: Did you know who that was? A: No.”). 
Haas did not have an explanation for how that failed to ring a bell so soon after he and his girlfriend had reported 
him to the police, other than to say that he is “bad with names.” Tr. 58:20-21. 
3  Government’s Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶ II(B)(2), ECF No. 40. 
4  For that reason, Haas’s testimony that he felt “trapped”—even if the Court were to credit it—would not be 
dispositive. 
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companions” and subjected to a “police-dominated atmosphere.” Howes, 565 U.S. at 511 
(quoting Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98, 106 (2010); Miranda, 384 U.S. at 456). By contrast, 
“[w]hen a person is questioned on his own turf, . . . the surroundings are not indicative of the 
type of inherently coercive setting that normally accompanies a custodial interrogation.” 
Willaman, 437 F.3d at 360 (quoting United States v. Czichray, 378 F.3d 822, 826 (8th Cir. 
2004)). The details of this encounter also cut against a finding of custody. Haas spent the 
interview alternatively sitting on the bed of his truck and standing next to it, and while the agents 
asked to speak with him in an area away from his girlfriend, they did not physically restrain him 
or prevent him from moving around and interacting with his daughter, who joined him on the 
bed of his truck for part of the interview. See, e.g., United States v. Murdock, 699 F.3d 665, 669-
70 (1st Cir. 2012) (concluding that a suspect who was confined to a small front lawn in front of 
his home was not in custody); United States v. Vidal, 85 F. App’x 858, 862 (3d Cir. 2004) 
(pointing to the fact that the defendant was questioned as “his daughter sat on his lap” as one 
factor that cut against a finding that the interrogation was custodial). 
 The tone and content of the encounter also point away from a finding of custody. Most 
notable here is the fact that the agents prefaced their questions with the assurance that they were 
not there to arrest him.5 United States v. Crawford, 372 F.3d 1048, 1060 (9th Cir. 2004) (en 
banc) (“Perhaps most significant for resolving the question of custody, [the defendant] was 
expressly told that he was not under arrest . . . .”). Haas points out that the agents did not promise 
that he would not be arrested at some time in the future, but the purpose of Miranda warnings is 
not to reassure a nervous suspect that he will not at some time find himself in legal jeopardy, it is 
to counteract the “compulsion inherent in custodial surroundings.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 458. 
 Notable as well is the fact that the agents did not yell or brandish their weapons. True, 
VanDurme did concede that the encounter took on a “questioning” tone, and while they “tried to 
be as polite as possible, . . . [they] had a few questions [they] were asking him,” Tr. 23:11-15, but 
“[a]ny interview of one suspected of a crime by a police officer will have coercive aspects to it.” 
Mathiason, 429 U.S. at 495. 
 Haas stresses the fact that the agents asked him whether anyone would be able to take 
care of his daughter if both he and his girlfriend were to find themselves in legal trouble, which 
might cause a reasonable person to question whether an arrest might be imminent, but that does 
not suggest that he was in custody then (in fact, it might well suggest the opposite). Even if it 
did, it would still need to be balanced against the fact that he was specifically told, twice, that he 
was not going to be arrested that day, and, true to their word, he was not. See United States v. 
Leese, 176 F.3d 740, 744 (3d Cir. 1999) (“[I]t is clear that [the defendant] was not in custody at 
the time she gave her statement . . . . Not only was [she] told that she was not under arrest before 
the questioning began, but she was specifically informed that when the questioning was 

                                                 
5  As mentioned, Haas disputed that part of VanDurme’s testimony, but the Court credits VanDurme’s 
account over his. 



8 
 

concluded the inspectors would be returning to Harrisburg and she would not be going with 
them.”). 
 Weighing to some degree in Haas’s favor is the fact that there were multiple law 
enforcement officers present at the scene, given Miranda’s concerns about questioning that 
occurs in a “police-dominated atmosphere,” 384 U.S. at 445, but there was only a single marked 
squad car between the four of them (driven by the single uniformed officer), and Haas was 
questioned only by the two FBI agents, both in plainclothes. See Murdock, 699 F.3d at 669 
(deeming the presence of five officers at the scene to have been “not overwhelming”). 
 Last is the duration of the encounter. By VanDurme’s estimate, which the Court credits, 
the entire encounter lasted no more than fifteen minutes—brief by Miranda standards. Even 
Haas’s estimate of forty-five minutes tends to be considered a somewhat short interrogation. 
See, e.g., Murdock, 699 F.3d at 669 (viewing an interrogation that lasted between forty-five 
minutes and an hour to be “a relatively short period of time”); United States v. Hudgens, 798 
F.2d 1234, 1237 (9th Cir. 1986) (“The fact that the interrogation lasted only 45 minutes also 
supports the district court’s determination that the statement was not the product 
of custodial interrogation.”). 
 All told, these circumstances do not suggest that Haas was subjected to a “‘restraint on 
[his] freedom of movement’ of the degree associated with a formal arrest,” Beheler, 463 U.S. at 
1125, or that “a reasonable person [would] have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the 
interrogation and leave,” Thompson v. Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 112 (1995). 

IV. Conclusion 
 Because Haas was not “in custody” during the encounter with the agents, the failure to 
inform him of his Miranda rights does not require the statements he made during that encounter 
to be suppressed. An appropriate order follows.   
  
  
  
 


